IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 93,106

0d7  
**FILED**

~~SID J. WHITE~~

JUN 17 1998

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Chief Deputy Clerk

**THE STATE OF FLORIDA,**

Appellant,

vs.

**MATTHEW STEPANSKY,**

Appellee.

---

AN APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT ON THE MERITS**

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH  
Attorney General

✓ RICHARD L. POLIN  
Florida Bar No. 0230987  
Assistant Attorney General  
Office of the Attorney General  
Department of Legal Affairs  
444 Brickell Avenue, Suite 950  
Miami, Florida 33131  
(305) 377-5441  
(305) 377-5655 (fax)

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Matthew Stepansky was charged by information with one count of burglary and one count of attempted sexual battery.<sup>1</sup> The alleged offenses occurred on board a vessel, the M/V Atlantic, a Liberian registered cruise ship, approximately 100 miles off the coast of Florida, in international waters. (See Appendix to Petition for Writ of Prohibition (Fifth District Court of Appeal), A2, A7). The vessel is fully owned by Premier Cruise Lines, Ltd., of the British West Indies. (See Appendix to Petition for Writ of Prohibition, A8). The defendant and the victim are both United States citizens, although neither resides in the State of Florida. (See Appendix to

---

<sup>1</sup> As of the time of the filing of this Brief of Appellant on the Merits, there is neither a record on appeal nor an index to the record on appeal. As this appeal is commenced pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(1)(A)(ii), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, the Brief of Appellant is due within 20 days from the notice of appeal, under Rule 9.110(j), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. However, the record on appeal, under that same rule, is not due to be prepared or transmitted until 60 days from the filing of the notice of appeal. Furthermore, since the case in the Fifth District Court of Appeal was an original writ proceeding, there was no record on appeal from the trial court, and the ultimate record on appeal in this Court will consist solely of the submissions to the Fifth District Court of Appeal: petition for writ of prohibition; response to petition; appendixes to petition and response; orders of Fifth District, etc.

Due to the absence of an index to the record on appeal as of this time, the Appellant is submitting the Brief of Appellant on the basis of references to the relevant documents. Should this Court desire an amended brief, with better record references, the State will submit one at such time as the Clerk of the Fifth District Court of Appeal prepares and transmits the record on appeal and index to record on appeal.

Petition for Writ of Prohibition, A8).

The prosecution, in the trial court, proceeded solely on the basis of section 910.006(3)(d), Florida Statutes.<sup>2</sup>

In the trial court, the defendant filed a motion and amended motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction, alleging that the alleged incidents occurred on the high seas, beyond the limits of Florida's territorial waters. (See Appendix to Petition for Writ of Prohibition, A2). The sole basis for the motion to dismiss was that the federal preemption doctrine precluded the State of Florida from exercising jurisdiction as to crimes committed on vessels on the high seas, insofar as federal legislation permitted the alleged crimes to be prosecuted under federal law, in federal courts.<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> That section, entitled "State special maritime criminal jurisdiction," provides, in relevant part, that Florida's special maritime criminal jurisdiction extends "(3) to acts or omissions on board a ship outside of the state under any of the following circumstances: . . . (d) The act or omission occurs during a voyage on which over half of the revenue passengers on board the ship originally embarked and plan to finally disembark in this state, without regard to intermediate stopovers."

<sup>3</sup> In the amended motion to dismiss in the trial court, the claim was summarized as being that "the long-standing Doctrine of Preemption, derived from the Supremacy Clause of the U.S. Constitution, recognizes that Congress, through its Maritime Laws, expressly pre-empts Florida's authority to assert jurisdiction for crimes alleged to have occurred on the high seas and beyond the territorial seas of the coastal states." (Appendix to Petition for Writ of Prohibition, App. 2, p. 2).

Prior to the hearing on the motion to dismiss, the defendant filed several requests for judicial notice, asking the court to take notice of the following facts: 1) that the alleged offense occurred on board the M/V Atlantic, at a distance of 100 nautical miles from the United States coast; 2) that the M/V Atlantic is a motor vessel duly registered in Liberia. (See Appendix to Petition for Writ of Prohibition, A7, A8). The State sought stipulations as to the following facts: 1) that the alleged offenses occurred on the M/V Atlantic, during a voyage on which over half of the revenue passengers on board originally embarked and planned to finally disembark in Florida, without regard to intermediate stopovers; 2) that the incident occurred within international waters; and 3) that the victim and defendant were both revenue passengers on board the vessel (See Appendix to Petition for Writ of Prohibition, A10, A11). At a hearing in the trial court, on the motion to dismiss, the foregoing facts were stipulated to, for the purpose of the hearing on the motion to dismiss. (See Transcript, April 28, 1997, pp. 4-11).

In the trial court, the State filed a written Response to Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Jurisdiction. (See Appendix to Response to Petition for Writ of Prohibition, B1-B35). This Response contained the State's argument regarding the inapplicability of the federal preemption doctrine. The parties

also filed supplemental pleadings related to the motion to dismiss. (See Appendix to Petition A3; Appendix to Response to Petition, C1-C10). On June 11, 1997, the trial court entered a written order denying the defendant's motion to dismiss. (See Appendix to Petition, 13).

Stepansky next proceeded to file a petition for writ of prohibition in the Fifth District Court of Appeal, asserting that the trial court lacked jurisdiction to proceed with this action. (See Petition). In that petition, Stepansky presented four arguments: 1) Florida's jurisdictional statute violates the "flag state rule" of the 1958 Convention on the High Seas; 2) Florida's statute is preempted by federal law; 3) Florida's jurisdictional statute purports to extend beyond the legal jurisdiction of the State of Florida; and 4) Florida's jurisdictional statute violates the due process clause of the Constitution. Id. In a written Response to Petition for Writ of Prohibition and Supplemental Response to Petition for Writ of Prohibition, the State responded to those assertions and other related matters. (See Response to Petition).<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup> The State's Supplemental Response was filed in response to an order of the Fifth District Court of Appeal seeking supplemental briefing on "the issue of whether the United States Government can assume jurisdiction over crimes committed by or against American nationals on foreign flag vessels in international waters, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 7(8), in light of the treaty obligations of the United States." (See Supplemental Response to Petition

On March 4, 1998, the Fifth District Court of Appeal filed its opinion, holding that section 910.006(3)(d), Florida Statutes, is facially unconstitutional and unconstitutional as applied to the facts of the case. The Court's opinion, in relevant part, states:

. . . The true question is: what is the authority of the State of Florida to enact a statute purporting to exercise criminal jurisdiction over an act occurring on the high seas on a foreign flag vessel?

As we read the 1994 federal legislation, it pertains only to federal criminal jurisdiction, not to state criminal jurisdiction. [FN 3] Whatever may be the validity *vel non* of the federal legislation in light of present day international law, an issue not before us, we do not see that legislation as authorizing the extension of the territorial boundaries of Florida. It seems clear that section 910.006(3)(d), as applied in this case, is violative of international law and the treaty obligations of the United States. Although there is authority for the United States to assert extraterritorial jurisdiction over its nationals, there simply is no basis for such an extension by a political subdivision of the United States in regard to the territory of a foreign country - and the flagship of another country is just that. The State of Florida is constitutionally prohibited from entering into a treaty with Liberia in respect to jurisdiction of crimes on the high seas. See Article 1, section 10 of the United States Constitution. [FN 4]

Accordingly, we find that section 910.006(3)(d), Florida Statutes, was enacted by the Florida Legislature without the

---

(February 23, 1998); Order of Fifth District Court of Appeal, February 13, 1998). Stepansky did not file any supplemental pleading directed towards that issue.

constitutional authority to do so, thereby intruding upon the exclusive province of Congress and the President as delineated by Article I, section 10 of the United States Constitution. Cf. Zscherning [sic] v. Miller, 389 U.S. 429 (1968). There is no showing, and no argument presented to us, that any treaty ceding such power to Florida has been executed between Liberia and the United States.

(Appendix to Brief, 4-6) (emphasis added) (footnotes omitted).

The State timely filed a motion for rehearing, addressing several of the points raised in the lower Court's opinion. (See Motion for Rehearing, filed March 17, 1998). On March 27, 1998, the lower Court denied the motion for rehearing. (See Order, March 27, 1998).

On May 8, 1998, after the lower Court issued its mandate, and after the time for filing an appeal to this Court had expired, the State filed a Motion to Recall Mandate and Reissue Order Denying Rehearing, on the grounds that counsel for the State had not received the order denying the motion for rehearing and had not learned of it until May 7, 1998. (See Motion to Recall, filed May 8, 1998). On May 20, 1998, the lower Court granted the Motion to Recall Mandate and Reissue Order Denying Rehearing. (See Order, May 20, 1998). The March 27th order denying rehearing and the April 15th mandate were withdrawn, and the order denying the motion for rehearing were then denied, as of May 20, 1998. Id.

The State then filed a Notice of Appeal, seeking review in this Court, on the basis of the mandatory appellate jurisdiction, under Rule 9.030(a)(1)(A)(ii), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, insofar as the lower Court declared a state statute invalid.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The lower Court erred in finding that Section 910.006(3)(d) is unconstitutional. As long as no specific provision of the federal Constitution prohibits Florida from asserting such jurisdiction, the statute is a proper exercise of jurisdiction. The treaty clause of the Constitution, on which the lower Court relies, simply prohibits Florida from entering into treaties. Florida has not entered into any treaty. Nor does the statute violate any of the United States government's treaty obligations, as established doctrines of international law - i.e., the effects doctrine - entitle Florida or any other state to assert jurisdiction notwithstanding the "flag state" rule of the Convention on the High Seas. The question of which courts within a federal government - federal or state - assert jurisdiction, is purely a question of domestic law; not international law.

ARGUMENT

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE  
FLORIDA LEGISLATURE LACKED THE CONSTITUTIONAL  
AUTHORITY TO ENACT SECTION 910.006(3)(d),  
FLORIDA STATUTES.

The right of the State of Florida to prosecute crimes occurring on the high seas is a question which is governed by the United States Constitution. Under principles of federalism, if the Constitution does not prohibit an individual state from engaging in certain actions, the State is not precluded from acting. International law is not concerned with the question of which governmental entity within a federal government engages in any particular action.

While the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution renders the international treaty obligations of the United States binding upon Florida, section 910.006(3)(d), Florida Statutes does not violate either the flag state principle or the 1958 Convention on the High Seas. International law recognizes the principle that an offense occurring on one nation's territory, including a vessel, may be prosecuted in the courts of another nation, if the offense has an effect on the latter nation. When such a prosecution is undertaken by the latter state, it is not extraterritorial in nature. Rather, since the offense has an effect on the latter



state, the prosecution of the offense by the latter state is simply an adjunct to that state's own territorial jurisdiction. As long as such a qualifying effect on Florida exists, neither international law nor any United States' treaty obligations determine which American courts may prosecute the offense.

**A. Florida and Federal Legislation**

In 1989, Florida enacted section 910.006, Florida Statutes, defining the state's "special maritime criminal jurisdiction." That statute extends the criminal jurisdiction of Florida beyond the territorial limits of the state, in the enumerated and limited circumstances specified in the statute, in which the State of Florida has a substantial nexus to the criminal act. The prosecution in the instant case was based on section 910.006(3)(d), which extends Florida's criminal jurisdiction "to acts or omissions on board a ship outside of the state" if "[t]he act or omission occurs during a voyage on which over half of the revenue passengers on board the ship originally embarked and plan to finally disembark in this state, without regard to intermediate stopovers." Other acts which serve to extend the criminal jurisdiction of Florida, although not at issue in this case, include situations in which the suspect is a resident of Florida, the victim of a violent offense is a resident of Florida, the master of the ship commits a suspect to the custody of the State of Florida, or the state in whose

territory the act occurred requests the exercise of jurisdiction by Florida. Section 910.006(3), Florida Statutes. A careful reading of section 910.006 compels the conclusion that all of the factors upon which Florida's special maritime jurisdiction may be based are factors establishing a substantial nexus between the offense and the assertion of jurisdiction by Florida.

Florida's statute is a narrowly tailored statute which is designed, in large part, to enable Florida to act as a court of last resort, when other states, whether the flag state or the federal government, are either unable or unwilling to act. Thus, section 910.006(4) provides: ". . . No person shall be tried under this section if that person has been tried in good faith for substantially the same act or omission." Similarly, section 910.006(5)(a)(a) provides: "This section is not intended to assert priority over or otherwise interfere with the exercise of criminal jurisdiction by the United States, the flag state, or the state in whose territory an act or omission occurs."

The statute does not permit Florida to commence a prosecution based on any penal statute which may exist in the State of Florida. Rather, Florida may prosecute for offenses, in the limited, enumerated circumstances set for the 910.006(3)(d), only if "the criminal laws of the United States prohibit substantially the same

act or omission on board ships of the United States registry outside of the territory of the United States." Thus, if the Florida legislature or a county or city commission enacts an obscure statute or ordinance, for which there is no comparable federal penal statute, section 910.006 will not permit Florida to prosecute the offense.<sup>5</sup>

A further significant point about Florida's statute is that it expressly incorporates pertinent provisions of international law, mandating that the statute be construed in a manner consistent with international law. Thus, section 910.006(5)(a)(2) provides: "This section shall be administered in a manner consistent with international law, with the primary responsibility of the flag state for the maintenance of order on board ship, and with the responsibilities of the Federal Government under the Constitution, treaties, and laws of the United States."

In 18 U.S.C. s. 7, the United States Congress has defined the term "special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United States." As a result of that definition, whenever a substantive criminal offense provides that it falls within the "special

---

<sup>5</sup> The statute also specifically provides that "[n]othing in this section shall be deemed to: . . . 4. Prohibit the operation of gambling, games of chance, or other gambling activities otherwise allowable outside the territorial waters of the State of Florida." Section 910.006(5)(b)(4), Florida Statutes.

maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United States," that substantive criminal offense may be prosecuted in federal courts. By way of example, 18 U.S.C. s. 2241(a), defining aggravated sexual abuse, provides that "[w]hoever, in the special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United States or in a Federal prison, knowingly causes another person to engage in a sexual act . . . [with an ensuing definition of the elements constituting the prohibited act], or attempts to do so, shall be fined under this title, imprisoned for any term of years or life, or both." Title 18 includes a vast array of criminal offenses under federal law; many of them include language such as that contained in section 2241(1), specifically subjecting the offense to prosecution under the special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United States.

Since 1994, the federal government clearly has jurisdiction to prosecute offenses occurring on foreign vessels on the high seas, when committed by or against a national of the United States. 18 U.S.C. s. 7(8).<sup>6</sup> Prior to 1994, it is unclear whether the federal

---

<sup>6</sup> 18 U.S.C. s. 7(8) includes, within the special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United States, "To the extent permitted by international law, any foreign vessel during a voyage having a scheduled departure from or arrival in the United States with respect to an offense committed by or against a national of the United States." The federal statute is broader than Florida's, to the extent that the scheduled departure and/or arrival need not be based on any percentage of revenue paying passengers embarking or disembarking. The federal statute is narrower than Florida's,

government ever had any statutory basis upon which to commence such prosecutions. 18 U.S.C. s. 7(7), enacted in 1984, extended the federal special maritime jurisdiction to "any place outside the jurisdiction of any nation with respect to an offense by or against a national of the United States." Significant doubts exist as to whether that provision was intended to apply to offenses committed on foreign vessels. See, Benedict on Admiralty (Matthew Bender, N.Y. 1995 ed.), s. 112 at pp. 9-7, n. 8 and 9-22.4. Contra, Lowenfeld, "United States Law Enforcement Abroad," 83 Amer. J. Int. L. 880, 887-88 (1989). Prior to 1984, if not 1994, it is clear that the federal government never had any statutory authority to prosecute offenses occurring on foreign vessels on the high seas.<sup>7</sup>

---

as it permits prosecutions only when the offenses are committed by or against American nationals.

18 U.S.C. s. 7(8) was enacted in 1994. See, 108 Stat. 2021 (Pub. L. 103-322, Title XII, s. 120002, Sept. 13, 1994). It was enacted due to difficulties which the federal government had previously had in asserting jurisdiction as to such offenses, as evidenced by a Presidential Message, addressing a prior proposed version of the same statute. See, Message from the President, House Doc. 102-58, 102d Cong., 1st Session, Doc. Y1.1/7:102-58. (See Appendix to Response to Petition for Writ of Prohibition, G1-G27). The federal government was concerned that offenses were remaining unprosecuted when they occurred on foreign vessels, by or against American nationals, because the flag states were showing little interest in prosecuting such offenses. Id.

<sup>7</sup> While 18 U.S.C. s. 7(1) includes, within the federal special maritime and territorial jurisdiction, "the high seas," that provision is limited to "any vessel belonging in whole or in part to the United States or any citizen thereof. . . ." That provision, which has language which can be traced back to 1790, does not apply to foreign vessels, and the vessel in the instant case is wholly owned by Premier Cruise Lines, Ltd., a citizen of

## **B. Federalism**

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