067

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 93,106

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUL 8 1998

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

vs.

MATTHEW STEPANSKY,

Appellee.

AN APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

✓
ROBIN C. LEMONIDIS
Florida Bar No. 0724548
✓
BOB R. CHERRY
Florida Bar No. 0063452
O'BRIEN, RIEMENSCHNEIDER,
KANCILIA & LEMONIDIS, P.A.
1686 West Hibiscus Boulevard
Melbourne, Florida 32901
(407) 728-2800

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

State criminal jurisdiction generally. It is without dispute that a state has jurisdiction to prosecute crimes which allegedly occur within its territory. (See, Art. I, § 16(a), Fla. Const.). This right competes, at times, with federal jurisdiction over the same act. United States courts first

²Restatement of the Law, The Foreign Relations Law of the United States, Volume 1, § 422, Comment *b*, p. 314 (3rd ed., American Law Institute 1987).

attempted to reconcile these two seemingly competing interests in United States v. Bevans, 16 U.S. (3 Wheat) 336, L. Ed. 404 (1818). The question before the Court in Bevans was whether a murder committed on a ship in the Boston Harbour was cognizable in state or federal court. Chief Justice Marshall delivered the opinion of the Court: “What, then, is the extent of jurisdiction which a state possesses? We answer, without hesitation, the jurisdiction of a state is co-extensive with its territory; co-extensive with its legislative power.” The Court further held that because the offense occurred on a U.S. ship of war that it was a federal matter. “The opinion of the court, on this point, is believed to render it unnecessary to decide the question respecting the jurisdiction of the State Court in the case.” Although that issue was not decided, Chief Justice Marshall indicated that the jurisdiction of a state ended at boundaries. This principle of territorial jurisdiction is embodied in Florida Statute § 910.005.

State criminal jurisdiction extends three miles. The seaward boundary of the State of Florida is defined as three miles from its Atlantic coastline, and three leagues from its Gulf of Mexico coastline. Art. II, § 1(a), Fla. Const. (1968). This Court has already held that the three-mile Atlantic boundary of the criminal jurisdiction of the State of Florida is absolute. In Mounier v. State, 178 So. 2d 714 (Fla. 1965), two defendants, Mounier and Thompson, were convicted of unlawfully spearfishing three and four-fifths nautical miles off the Atlantic coastline of Monroe County. In overturning the convictions, this Court relied on the constitutional boundaries of the state: “[i]n 1962, however, the boundaries of Florida were changed by the people to include only a distance seaward of three geographic miles in this particular area. It appearing without any question that the offense was committed beyond this line, it follows that the conviction was a nullity and that these defendants should have been discharged.” Id. at 717. If an offense committed four-fifths of a

nautical mile beyond the three-mile boundary is a nullity, then an offense alleged to have been committed 97 miles beyond the three-mile boundary is a nullity, without question.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal has acknowledged a line of United States Supreme Court cases which set the territorial jurisdiction of the State of Florida as three miles from the Atlantic coastline of Florida. State v. Efthimiadis, 690 So. 2d 1320 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997). The federal government defines the boundaries of Florida, *inter alia*, in 43 U.S.C.A. § 1312, "Seaward Boundaries of States," as three miles from its Atlantic coastline or the international boundaries of the United States. This boundary may not be extended without the approval of the U.S. Congress. Congress has not approved the extension of Florida's boundaries.

Concurrent state and federal criminal jurisdiction within three miles. Criminal jurisdiction to prosecute crimes which allegedly occur within three miles of Florida's coast is shared with the federal government. Murray v. Hildreth, 61 F.2d 483 (5th Cir. 1932). In this case, defendant James Murray petitioned for writ of habeas corpus for his release from the custody of the U.S. Marshal (Hildreth), for a murder which allegedly occurred within 200 feet of Florida's coastline, near Dania Beach, on the grounds that Florida had exclusive jurisdiction. "As between nations, there is concurrent jurisdiction in foreign waters; and, as between the United States and the several states, there is no reason why the jurisdiction over crimes within the three-mile limit could not be made concurrent, as has usually been done in the punishment of offenses committed in violation of both federal and state laws."

Exclusive federal criminal jurisdiction beyond three miles. Earlier this century, courts construing the maritime jurisdiction conferred by federal criminal statutes held that prosecuting crimes committed on the high seas "outside a marine league [three miles] from the shores and

outside the jurisdiction of any particular state are constructively a part of [U.S.] territory. Indeed, the high seas are a part peculiarly within the jurisdiction of the United States in the application of its criminal laws, as distinguished from the states and their laws.” United States v. Bowman, 287 F. 588, 592-93 (S.D.N.Y. 1921), rev’d on other grounds, 260 U.S. 94 (1922). In 1988, President Reagan extended the U.S. territorial waters from three to 12 miles.³ This extension was based on the reaction of the international community to the 1982 United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea. Congress also established that jurisdiction to prosecute crimes which occur on the high seas outside the three-mile limit, but within the 12-mile limit, is within the exclusive jurisdiction of the federal government. Still today, this principle of federal supremacy in the maritime arena prevails: “unless Congress determined otherwise, the zone between three and twelve miles would be under the exclusive authority of the Federal Government.” Restatement of the Law, The Foreign Relations Law of the United States, Volume 2, § 512, p. 38, Reporters’ Notes 2 (3rd ed., American Law Institute 1987).

Since the federal government has exclusive jurisdiction from three miles off the coast of the U.S. until the outermost U.S. territorial boundary of 12 miles, an individual state has no authority to go beyond the national boundaries. Surely, Congress never intended, nor does the constitution allow for a zone of exclusive federal jurisdiction between three and 12 miles from the U.S. coastline in which a state could not exercise jurisdiction, only to have the entire ocean open up to the jurisdiction of every political subdivision of the U.S. outside of the national boundaries!

By attempting to claim jurisdiction over a matter that occurred 100 miles off its Atlantic coastline, the State of Florida is attempting to legislate far outside its constitutional realm of

³Presidential Proclamation No. 5928, 54 F.R. 777 (Dec. 27, 1988); 43 U.S.C.A. § 1331.

authority. Even if the State of Florida could claim “concurrent” jurisdiction out to the recently established federal 12-mile limit, it cannot exercise jurisdiction over a non-Florida resident on a foreign vessel over 100 miles off its coast on the high seas. If it could, then conceivably § 910.006 empowers Florida to prosecute a foreign national who was either a passenger or a crew member onboard a foreign vessel during an around-the-world cruise originating from Florida, for an offense against another foreign passenger or crew member that occurred while the ship was in the Indian Ocean--a situation that sounds traditionally within federal or international admiralty jurisdiction.⁴

Constitutional grounds for federal criminal jurisdiction on the high seas. Jurisdiction to prosecute crimes which occur on the high seas arises from a grant of exclusive jurisdiction by the U.S. Constitution. No one would dispute that the power to regulate commerce with foreign nations, establish a uniform rule of naturalization, coin money and regulate the value thereof, and establish post offices are exclusive federal arenas. Each of these “powers” was expressed in Article I, Section 8, of the U.S. Constitution. Article I, Section 8, cl. 10, of the U.S. Constitution grants the power to Congress “[t]o define and punish Piracies and Felonies committed on the high seas, . . .” Accordingly, Congress, via the Judiciary Act of 1789, legislated: “§ 9. . . [T]he district courts shall have, exclusively of the courts of the several States, cognizance of all crimes and offences that shall be cognizable under the authority of the United States, committed within their respective districts, or upon the high seas[.]” 1st Cong., 1st Sess., Sept. 24, 1789; 1 Stat. 76.

⁴As Judge Cobb inquired of the State at oral argument on March 3, 1998, if a ship departs from Kennedy Space Center [a Florida port] and travels to Mars and returns to Florida, would the State still claim jurisdiction over alleged criminal acts which occurred on the moon? Sec. 910.006 purports to give the State of Florida jurisdiction in that case.

Article III, Section 2, of the U.S. Constitution clearly and explicitly claims jurisdiction over all cases of admiralty and maritime jurisdiction. The State's contention that the states have the authority to legislate in this area, pursuant to the Tenth Amendment, is mistaken. The plain meaning of Article III, Section 2, shows that the framers intended⁵ the same exclusive jurisdiction in the admiralty and maritime arena:

SECTION 1. The judicial Power of the United States, shall be vested in one supreme Court, and in such inferior Courts as the Congress may from time to time ordain and establish. . . .

SECTION 2. The judicial Power shall extend to *all* Cases, in Law and Equity, arising under this Constitution, the Laws of the United States, and Treaties made, or which shall be made, or which shall be made, under their Authority;--to *all* Cases affecting Ambassadors, other public Ministers and Consuls;--to *all* Cases of admiralty and maritime Jurisdiction;--to Controversies to which the United States shall be a Party;--to Controversies between two or more States;--between a State and Citizens of another State;--between a State and Citizens of another State;--between Citizens of different States . . .

U.S. Const., Article III, §§ 1 and 2 (emphasis added). If any U.S. court has authority to act in this case (instead of Liberia), the federal government must hold exclusive jurisdiction pursuant to the U.S. Constitution and international law, as codified in the federal maritime criminal statutes.

Moreover, no one disputes the expressed provisions of Article I, Section 8, are exclusively federal domain. In light of the use of the word "all" in the admiralty and maritime clause of Article III, Section 2, no one should dispute the explicit and exclusive federal domain. Thus, the State's claim that § 910.006 is valid by virtue of the Tenth Amendment is without merit, because this power

⁵"The most bigoted idolizers of State Authority have not thus far shown a disposition to deny the national judiciary the cognizances of maritime causes. These so generally depend on the laws of nations, and so commonly affect the rights of foreigners, that they fall within the considerations which are relative to the public peace...." Alexander Hamilton, The Federalist No. 80, at 478.

is delegated. The State's claim that "no specific provision of the federal constitution prohibits Florida from asserting such jurisdiction" has no basis in fact or law.

Statutory restatement of federal criminal jurisdiction on the high seas. As with most statutes regarding jurisdiction, federal criminal statute 18 U.S.C.A. § 7 is a mere logical restatement of the constitutional grant of jurisdiction. In 1984, the U.S. Congress acted upon its concern that acts of maritime terrorism were going unanswered by amending 18 U.S.C.A. § 7(7) to statutorily include the internationally recognized "passive personality exception" to the flag ship rule of jurisdiction.⁶ Apparently, Congress was not satisfied with the outcome. In 1991, due to continuing concern that incidents of maritime terrorism were going unanswered, the U.S. Congress enacted 18 U.S.C.A. § 7(8).⁷ Congress squarely recognized the limitations in exercising U.S. jurisdiction over prohibited

⁶18 U.S.C.A. § 7(7) provides: [Special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United States . . . includes] Any place outside the jurisdiction of any nation with respect to an offense by or against a national of the United States.

Benedict on Admiralty (7th ed., Matthew Bender & Co. 1991). Chapter IX Maritime Crimes, § 112b, 9-22.1-2, comments on these statutes and their origin:

"Internationally, jurisdiction based solely on the nationality of the victim is the most controversial and least accepted jurisdictional basis. (Footnote omitted) With few exception [sic], the United States remained hostile to it until the 1980's. (Footnote omitted).

In the past decade or so, however, increasing terrorist attacks against U.S. nationals abroad and the reluctance of foreign governments to prosecute the perpetrators on any jurisdictional ground whatever have led congress to enact several extraterritorial criminal jurisdiction statutes utilizing the passive personality principle as one of the jurisdictional bases. Some of these statutes give the United States criminal jurisdiction over crimes committed aboard foreign ships on the high seas."

⁷Title VII--Terrorism, Subtitle B--Maritime Terrorism, § 719. JURISDICTION OVER CRIMES AGAINST UNITED STATES NATIONALS ON CERTAIN FOREIGN SHIPS.

Section 7 of title 18, United States Code (relating to the special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United States), is amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new paragraph:

(8) To the extent permitted by international law, any foreign vessel during a voyage having a scheduled departure from or arrival in the United States with respect to an offense committed by or against a national of the United States.

acts committed upon the high seas when it drafted 18 U.S.C.A. § 7(8), which it limited “to the extent permitted by international law.” On April 24, 1996, the U.S. Congress declared that:

[A]ll the territorial sea of the United States, as defined by Presidential Proclamation 5928 of December 27, 1988 [set out as a note under section 1331 of Title 43, Public Lands], for purposes of Federal criminal jurisdiction is part of the United States, subject to its sovereignty, and is within the special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United States for the purposes of title 18, United States Code [this title].

Pub. L. 104-132, Title IX, § 901(a), Apr. 24, 1996, 110 Stat. 1317. Although the State of Florida may argue that it has historical authority to regulate and control acts of its citizens in waters outside Florida’s territorial limits,⁸ the U.S. Congress has clearly evinced its intent to legislate criminal penalties in “all the territorial sea of the United States.” None of the new statutes or amendments purport to give the states a scintilla of authority to “legislate as they see fit” in this arena. Admiralty and maritime law, as it pertains to actions on the high seas, is an historically federal realm for very sound policy reasons.

Flag State Rule. The country whose flag a ship flies has exclusive jurisdiction over the ship and all aboard. Indeed, a ship is treated as a floating piece of the flag state’s territory. This long-standing tenant of admiralty law is recognized internationally: “Ships shall sail under the flag of one State only and, *save in exceptional cases expressly provided for in international treaties or*

⁸Skiriotes v. State of Florida, 313 U.S. 69, 61 S. Ct. 924, 85 L. Ed. 1193 (1941), (when its action does not conflict with federal law, a state has authority over the conduct of its citizens on the high seas); S.E. Fisheries v. Dept. of Nat. Resources, 453 So. 2d 1351 (Fla. 1984), (the state has limited authority to regulate and control acts of its citizens who were fishing in waters outside Florida’s territorial limits); but see, Burns v. Rozen, 201 So. 2d 629 (Fla. 1st DCA 1967), (state could enforce fishing statute only against its vessels and its citizens, and only within its territorial waters).

these articles, shall be subject to its exclusive jurisdiction on the high seas."⁹ (Emphasis added).

Convention on the High Seas. Done at Geneva, on 29 April 1958, Article 6, § 1. "The term 'high seas' means all parts of the sea that are not included in the territorial sea or in the internal waters of a State." Id. at Article 1. The United States has not entered into any treaty which would allow Florida to exercise criminal jurisdiction over passengers aboard a Liberian cruise ship. Furthermore, mere use of a Florida port does not rise to the level of an "exceptional case," even if Florida was a party to such an international treaty. Therefore, as a matter of international law, the M/V Atlantic's flag state, Liberia, has exclusive jurisdiction of this matter, with few exceptions (discussed above). Florida has no legal basis to claim jurisdiction over the matter, "residual"¹⁰ or otherwise.

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